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Over the years, particularly in the 1800s and first half of the 1900s, many structures located in the City of Batavia were moved from one location to another.  They included commercial buildings, such as a gas station moved from Montclair and West Main to the current location of Billy Goats and auxiliary buildings such as a garage moved from the vicinity of the current Salvation Army Thrift Store to 179 South Main.  This research, however, focuses on houses that have been moved.

Some of the houses that are known to have been moved are no longer standing.  They include the original James Brisbane house, built in 1802, that was divided into two sections with the larger section moved out on West Main just west of the Holland Land Office Museum and the smaller section moved up Jefferson Avenue.  Another house, no longer standing, was moved from the area of Falleti Motors on Ellicott Street across the street to the north side where St. Joseph’s Cemetery is situated.  Expansion of the Elmwood Cemetery appears to have led to yet another house, no longer in existence, being moved from Harvester Avenue to South Spruce.  A house existed at the rear of 7 South Main that was split off from the Law Mansion at 5-7 South Main, but it later burned.  None-the-less, the author has been able to identify 34 houses still standing that were originally elsewhere.  A list appears at the end of this summary.

Why Were Houses Moved?

Several construction projects led to houses being moved.  The most notable of these were:

1. Relocation of the New York Central Railroad tracks from the center of the City to the outskirts.

2. Construction of the Oak Street bridge across the Tonawanda Creek and the extension of Oak Street to South Main and Pearl.

3. Construction of the East Town Plaza.

In some other cases, there was expansion of neighboring uses, such as the cemeteries mentioned above.  In another instance, a homeowner wanted a larger side yard.  Construction of a gasoline station at the corner of Porter and West Main and the Sheriff’s building, also at the corner of Porter and West Main, both precipitated moving of houses.  In at least three instances, very large houses were divided into smaller houses and all or some of the parts moved.   The latter occurred with the Law Mansion at 5-7 South Main, the Glowacki house at 16 Summit, and the Brisbane house located where the Post Office now stands.
Why Weren’t the Structures Simply Demolished?

It has been pointed out that now days, it is often cheaper to tear down an old building and replace it with a new one.  In the past, however, without modern tools, building materials, and construction techniques, it was often cheaper and faster to move a building rather than replace it.  Other factors that contributed to the willingness to move buildings were an absence of the telephone and power lines, plumbing connections, heavy traffic, and the need to obtain permits that now confront a proposal to move a structure.
Are Houses Still Being Moved?
The last occasion of a house being moved in the City is believed by the author to have been in 1978 when an East Avenue house was moved to Fargo Road.  The last period of significant activity was in the 1950s

How Were the Houses Moved?

Typically, sections of the foundation were removed to allow placement of screwjacks under the sills.  Then the building was raised.  Carriages were next fastened beneath the building’s sills with wheels on the underside of the carriages.  The building could then be rolled along timbers or steel beams placed on the ground to serve as tracks.  Or the building could be towed on a roadway.  When the Flatiron Cash Grocery was moved from the corner of Pearl and South Main to 142 Pearl, it rode on three sets of eight pneumatic tires each.  There apparently were occasions when the carriages, rather than having wheels, used a tongue and groove arrangement with rails fitting into the groves.  The rails were greased to reduce friction, in these instances.  Sometimes buildings were moved on wooden rollers.  That was allegedly the case with the house now at 108 Osterhout.
Motive power, before more modern times, was provided by horses or oxen.  The tractor units of semi-trucks later provided the power.  Motion was slow.  It reportedly took most of a day to move the Flatiron Grocery a few blocks west on Pearl.

Wasn’t it Rough on the Houses?

Moving a house produces surprisingly little stress to the structure.  Typically, plaster didn’t crack.  Even masonry survived the trip without incident.  One eye-witness to the moving operations from the Pearl and South Main area has recalled the movers placing vases of flowers on table tops and guaranteeing that they would still be there at the end of the move!

How Has the Author Obtained Information About these Houses?
The author has learned about these houses partly through newspaper accounts, but primarily through word-of-mouth communications from area residents.  He has then tried to verify the claims through studying Sanborn Fire Maps, old City Directories, and the houses themselves.  (For example, a house with an architectural style clearly from 1900, but with modern concrete block basement walls, is pretty much certain to be a house that was moved.)  He has encountered some instances where recollections and independent evidence were at odds; and these claims have had to be omitted, at least for the time being.

Who Was Involved in Moving Houses?

One name that has been cited is that of Elizabeth Tozer Williams, an ancestor of the attorney, Gerald Williams.  She may have been instrumental in moving several houses, but only anecdotal evidence has been located.  According to one such story, she once was moving a house when authorities demanded evidence of a permit for the move.  Having none, she allegedly abandoned the structure in the middle of a main street.  No one seems to know how the matter was resolved.
Are There Other Interesting Anecdotes?

Another story that circulates is that a house was being moved on Ellicott St. near Harvester when something broke and it stood in the street all winter.

The currently owner of the house at 102 Clifton, a building that once served as an annex at the former Williams St. school, has found blackboards behind the wall paneling.

A house being moved from West Main to Denio stalled out on a hill along the way when the original truck being used to tow the building lacked sufficient power.  That was sometime in the 1930s.
What Matters Remain to be Resolved?

Among other things, the author hopes houses that may have been overlooked will be discovered.  There are also some specific questions.  For example:

1. Apparently 7 houses were moved when the Oak Street bridge and Oak Street extension were built.  Only 4 have been located: 125 Pearl, 138 Pearl, 142 Pearl, and 23 Roosevelt.  What happened to the others?

2. Which house on Fargo Rd. was originally on East Avenue?

3. Where did the building at 18-1/2 Ellicott St., the former convent behind St. Mary’s Church, originally come from?  It may have been two separate buildings combined into one, which would explain the unusual roof line.  Is that the case?

4. When the athletic fields at the intersection of Union and Richmond were constructed, it is believed that houses were moved from that location.  If so, where did they go?

What Houses Have Been Identified, So Far?

1. 34 Elm St.—Origin not known.  Was possibly part of a larger house shared with 40 Elm.  Date moved is unknown.
2. 40 Elm St.—Origin not known.  Was possibly part of a larger house shared with 34 Elm.  Date moved is unknown.

3. 244 State St.—Was originally on State St. on what is now the campus of BHS.  Was moved ca. 1961 when the High School was built.
4. 7 Woodrow Rd.—Moved from W. Main St.  Date moved is unknown.

5. 125 Pearl St.—Moved from area of Oak St. extension.  Was moved ca. 1953 when the Oak St. bridge was built.
6. 142 Pearl St.—Moved from area of Oak St. extension.  Was moved ca. 1953 when the Oak St. bridge was built.
7. 138 Pearl St.—Moved from area of Oak St. extension.  Was moved ca. 1953 when the Oak St. bridge was built.
8. 14 Summit St.—Was split off from 16 Summit, ca. 1918.

9. 6 Washington Ave.—Origin not known.  Date moved is unknown.

10. 10 Buell St.—Moved from 20 Lehigh Ave.  Was moved ca. 1956 when NYC tracks were relocated.

11. 3 South Main St.—Was split off from 5-7 South Main St., ca. 1904.

12. 11 Porter Ave.—Moved ca. 1902 from NE corner of Porter and W. Main when Sheriff’s Building was constructed.

13. 13 Porter Ave.—Was split off from Joseph Ellicott’s mansion, located at intersection of Dellinger and W. Main, when the mansion was dismantled for the construction of Dellinger Ave.

14. 108 Osterhout—Moved ca.1949 from vicinity of Osterhout and Sumner St. when Sumner was extended to Otis.

15. 244 Liberty St.—Moved from immediately south of St. Anthony’s Church, ca. 1954, to provide space for a rectory.
16. 248 Liberty St.—Moved from Ellicott St. where Paul’s Pizza is now located, ca. 1950.
17. 23 Roosevelt Ave.—Moved from area of Oak St. extension.  Was moved ca. 1953 when the Oak St. bridge was built.

18. 264 East Ave.—Moved in early 1960s from E. Main St. in the vicinity of the East Main Plaza when the plaza was built.

19. 31 Clinton St.—Moved in early 1960s from E. Main St. in the vicinity of the East Main Plaza when the plaza was built.

20. 6 Denio St.—Was apparently moved in 1930s, possibly from West Main St.

21. 8 Denio St.—Was apparently moved in 1930s, possibly from West Main St.

22. 4 Edward—Moved from 635 Ellicott St.  Was moved ca. 1956 when NYC tracks were relocated.

23. 135 Jackson St.—Moved from Evans St., behind the Moose building on Ellicott.  Date moved is unknown.

24. 135-1/2 Jackson St.—Moved from Evans St., behind the Moose building on Ellicott.  Date moved is unknown.

25. 106 Otis St.—Origin and date moved are both unknown.
26. 305 Bank St.—Moved from east of Dwyer Stadium.  Date moved is unknown

27. 315 School St.—Origin and date moved are both unknown.

28. 18-1/2 Ellicott St.—Moved from elsewhere on Ellicott St.  Moved in early 1930s.  May have been two separate buildings, originally.

29. 3 Lehigh Ave.—Moved from 620 Ellicott St.  Was moved ca. 1956 when NYC tracks were relocated.

30. 108 Vine St.—Moved from Center St.  Was probably moved in the 1930s.

31. 234 S. Swan St.—Moved from NW corner of Sumner and S. Swan to provide parking lot for Sacred Heart Church, possibly ca. 1954.

32. 1-3 Porter Ave.—Moved from a location that was closer to W. Main St. to provide for a gasoline station on the NW corner of Porter and W. Main.  Moved prior to W.W. II. 
33. 102 Clifton—Moved from location of former Lincoln School on Williams St. where it was thought to be an annex.  Probably moved ca. 1960.

34. Fargo Rd.. (address unknown)—Moved from 117 East Ave.  Was moved in 1978 to provide for a larger side yard at 115 East Ave.
